
 

Agenda - Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 

Committee 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

Meeting date: Monday, 3 July 2017 

Meeting time: 14.30

For further information contact: 

Gareth Williams 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6362  

SeneddCLA@assembly.wales

1 Introduction, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest 

   

2 Stronger Voice for Wales: Evidence session 11 

14.30 (Pages 1 - 6)  

 

Elin Jones AM, The Llywydd, National Assembly for Wales 

Adrian Crompton, Director of Assembly Business, Assembly Commission 

 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Research Service Briefing 

 

3 Instruments that raise issues to be reported to the Assembly 

under Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3 

   

 

Negative Resolution Instruments 

 

4 SL(5)112 - The Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating Material 

(Wales) Regulations 2017 

 (Pages 7 - 66)  

 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 1 – Regulation s 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 2 – Explanatory Memorandum 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 3 – Report 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 4 – Letter to the Llywydd from the Leader of the House and 

Chief Whip 

 

5 Papers to note 

   

Correspondence regarding Subordinate legislation deriving from EU law  

 (Pages 67 - 69) 

 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 5 – Letter from the Leader of the House and Chief Whip, 28 

June 2017 

CLA(5)- 18-17 – Paper 6 – Letter to the Leader of the House and Chief Whip, 21 

June 2017 

 

Correspondence regarding The Education (Postgraduate Master's Degree Loans) 

Regulations 2017  

 (Pages 70 - 72) 

 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 7 - Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Education re: The 

Education (Postgraduate Master’s Degree Loans) Regulations 2017, 29 June 2017 

CLA(5)-18-17 – Paper 8 - Letter to the Cabinet Secretary for Education re: The 

Education (Postgraduate Master’s Degree Loans) Regulations 2017, 15 June 2017 

 

 

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: 

   

7 Stronger Voice for Wales Inquiry: Consideration of Evidence 

   

8 Welsh Government Technical Briefing: Interpretation Act for Wales 

   

 

Welsh Government Technical briefing: Interpretation Act for Wales 



 

Claire Fife, Welsh Government 

Dylan Hughes, Welsh Government 

 

Date of the next meeting  

 

 

10 July 2017 

 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S  

2017 No. 691 (W. 163) 

PLANT HEALTH, WALES 

SEEDS, WALES 

The Marketing of Fruit Plant and 

Propagating Material (Wales) 

Regulations 2017 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations, which apply in Wales, continue 

to implement Council Directive 2008/90/EC on the 

marketing of fruit plant propagating material and fruit 

plants intended for fruit production (OJ No L 267, 

8.10.2008, p. 8). They also implement— 

Commission Implementing Directive 2014/96/EU on 

the requirements for the labelling, sealing and 

packaging of fruit plant propagating material and fruit 

plants intended for fruit production, falling within the 

scope of Council Directive 2008/90/EC (OJ L 298, 

16.10.2014, p. 12); 

Commission Implementing Directive 2014/97/EU 

implementing Council Directive 2008/90/EC as 

regards the registration of suppliers and of varieties 

and the common list of varieties (OJ L 298, 

16.10.2014, p. 16); 

Commission Implementing Directive 2014/98/EU 

implementing Council Directive 2008/90/EC as 

regards specific requirements for the genus and species 

of fruit plants referred to in Annex I thereto, specific 

requirements to be met by suppliers and detailed rules 

concerning official inspections (OJ No L 298, 

16.10.2014, p. 22). 

They revoke and replace the Marketing of Fruit Plant 

Material Regulations (S.I. 2010/2079). 

Part 1 of the Regulations is introductory. The fruit 

plants and propagating material (plant material) to 

which the Regulations apply is set out in regulation 4 

and Schedule 3. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 2

Part 2 contains requirements for marketing plant 

material (regulation 5). In order to be marketed, plant 

material must comply with requirements set out for 

certification (regulation 9 and Schedule 5) and 

packaging, sealing and labelling (regulation 10 and 

Schedule 2). Plant material must be, or be in the 

process of being, registered (Schedule 4) and have 

been granted, or an application made for, plant variety 

rights (regulation 7). CAC material must comply with 

requirements set out in Schedule 1 and be 

accompanied by a supplier’s document (Schedule 2). 

Regulation 4 sets out exceptions to these general 

requirements. 

Part 3 requires the registration of suppliers 

(regulation 11) and a register of suppliers (regulation 

13). Suppliers are required to monitor the production 

of plant material (regulation 14) and keep records 

(regulation 15). 

Part 4 deals with the enforcement of these 

Regulations and sets out inspectors’ powers, including 

a power to serve a notice on any person to require that 

person to provide information and a power to prohibit 

the movement of plant material suspected of failing to 

comply with these Regulations. An inspector also has a 

power to serve a notice on any person acting in 

contravention of these Regulations to require that 

person to comply with the Regulations or to prohibit 

that person from acting in breach of them. Under 

regulation 24(1) a person who fails to comply with any 

such notice or to give assistance to the inspector is 

guilty of an offence. Under regulation 24(2) a person 

guilty of an offence under the Regulations is liable on 

summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on 

the standard scale. 

Part 5 sets out administrative provisions including 

arrangements for official measures (regulation 27) and 

a transitional provision (regulation 28). 

The Welsh Ministers’ Code of Practice on the carrying 

out of Regulatory Impact Assessments was considered 

in relation to these Regulations. As a result, it was not 

considered necessary to carry out a regulatory impact 

assessment as to the likely costs and benefits of 

complying with these Regulations. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 8



 3

W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S  

2017 No. 691 (W. 163) 

PLANT HEALTH, WALES 

SEEDS, WALES 

The Marketing of Fruit Plant and 

Propagating Material (Wales) 

Regulations 2017 

Made 14 June 2017 

Laid before the National Assembly for Wales

 16 June 2017 

     Coming into force 19 June 2017 

CONTENTS 

PART 1 

Introduction 

 

1. Title,  commencement, and application 

2. Interpretation: general 

3. Interpretation: Directives 

4. Plant material to which these 

Regulations apply 

 

PART 2 

Marketing of Plant Material 

 

5. Marketing of plant material 

6. Exceptions 

7. Varieties that may be marketed 

8. References to variety of plant material 

9. Certification of plant material 

10. Labelling, sealing and packaging of 

certified plant material 

 

PART 3 

Suppliers 

 

11. Registration of suppliers 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 9



 4

12. Appeals 

13. Register of suppliers 

14. Suppliers: plan to identify and monitor 

production process 

15. Suppliers: record keeping 

 

PART 4 

Enforcement 

 

16. Inspectors 

17. Entry and inspection of land and 

premises 

18. Search and examination of items on 

land and premises 

19. Information notice 

20. Prohibition on movement notice 

21. Enforcement and prohibition notice 

22. Appeals against notices 

23. Compliance with notices 

24. Offences and penalties 

25. Offences by bodies corporate 

 

PART 5 

Administration and revocations 

 

26. Notices and authorisations 

27. Arrangements for official measures 

28. Transitional provision 

29. Revocation 

 

 SCHEDULE 1 — CAC material 

 SCHEDULE 2 — Official labels and 

supplier’s documents 

 

 PART 1 — Official labels 

 PART 2 — Supplier’s document: 

CAC material  

   

 SCHEDULE 3 — Genera and species 

to which these 

Regulations apply 

 SCHEDULE 4 — Registration of 

varieties 

 SCHEDULE 5 — Certification of plant 

material  

 PART 1 — Introduction  

 PART 2 — Certification of pre-

basic material  

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 10



 5

 PART 3 — Certification of basic 

material 

 PART 4 — Certification of 

certified material 

The Welsh Ministers make these Regulations in 

exercise of the powers conferred by section 2(2) of, 

and paragraph 1A of Schedule 2 to, the European 

Communities Act 1972(1).  

The Welsh Ministers are designated for the purposes 

of section 2(2) of the European Communities Act 1972 

in relation to the common agricultural policy(2). 

These Regulations make provision for a purpose 

mentioned in section 2(2) of the European 

Communities Act 1972 and it appears to the Welsh 

Ministers that it is expedient for any reference to 

Annexes I to V to Commission Implementing 

Directive 2014/98/EU(3) to be construed as a reference 

to those Annexes as amended from time to time. 

PART 1 

Introduction 

Title, commencement and application 

1.—(1) The title of these Regulations is the 

Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating Material 

(Wales) Regulations 2017 and they come into force on 

19 June 2017. 

(2) These Regulations apply in relation to Wales. 

Interpretation: general 

2. In these Regulations— 

“basic material” (“deunyddiau sylfaenol”) means 

propagating material intended for the production 

of certified material, which has been— 

                                                                               
(1) 1972 c. 68. Section 2(2) was amended by section 27(1)(a) of the 

Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 (c. 51) and by Part 1 
of the Schedule to the European Union (Amendment) Act 2008 (c. 
7). Paragraph 1A of Schedule 2 was inserted by section 28 of the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and was amended by 
Part 1 of the Schedule to the European Union (Amendment) Act 
2008 and S.I. 2007/1388. 

(2) S.I. 2010/2690. 
(3) Commission Implementing Directive 2014/98/EU implementing 

Council Directive 2008/90/EC as regards specific requirements for 
the genus and species of fruit plants referred to in Annex I thereto, 
specific requirements to be met by suppliers and detailed rules 
concerning official inspections (OJ No L 298, 16.10.2014, p. 22). 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 11



 6

(a) in relation to propagating material produced 

in Wales, certified as basic material in 

accordance with regulation 9; 

(b) in relation to propagating material produced 

outside Wales, certified as basic material by a 

responsible authority in accordance with 

Article 15 of Directive 2014/98/EU; 

“basic mother plant” (“planhigyn tarddiol 

sylfaenol”) means a mother plant intended for the 

production of basic material; 

“CAC material” (“deunyddiau CAC”) means— 

(a) in relation to propagating material and fruit 

plants produced in Wales, material and plants 

that meet the requirements for CAC material 

in Schedule 1; 

(b) in relation to propagating material and fruit 

plants produced outside Wales, material and 

plants that meet the requirements for CAC 

material in Article 23 of Directive 

2014/98/EU; 

“certification” (“ardystio”) means the certification 

of plant material in accordance with regulation 9 

and “certified” (“ardystiedig”) is to be construed 

accordingly; 

“certified material” (“deunyddiau ardystiedig”) 

means any propagating material or fruit plants 

intended for the production of fruit plants, which 

has been— 

(a) in relation to propagating material and fruit 

plants produced in Wales, certified as certified 

material in accordance with regulation 9; 

(b) in relation to propagating material and fruit 

plants produced outside Wales, certified as 

certified material by a responsible authority in 

accordance with Article 20 of Directive 

2014/98/EU; 

“certified mother plant” (“planhigyn tarddiol 

ardystiedig”) means a mother plant intended for 

the production of certified material; 

“certified plant material” (“deunyddiau planhigion 

ardystiedig”) means plant material that is certified 

(as the case may be) as pre-basic material, basic 

material or certified material; 

“cryopreservation” (“rhewgadw”) means the 

maintenance of plant material by cooling to ultra-

low temperatures in order to retain the viability of 

the material; 

“defects” (“diffygion”) include injuries, 

discoloration, scar tissues or desiccation that affect 

the quality and usefulness of a mother plant or 

plant material as propagating material; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 12



 7

“fruit plant” (“planhigyn ffrwythau”) means a plant 

intended to be planted or replanted, after 

marketing; 

“inspector” (“arolygydd”) means a person 

appointed under regulation 16; 

“lot” (“lot”) means a number of units of a single 

commodity, identifiable by its homogeneity of 

composition and origin; 

“micropropagation” (“microluosogi”) means the 

multiplication of plant material in order to produce 

a large number of plants, using in vitro culture of 

differentiated vegetative buds or differentiated 

vegetative meristems taken from a plant; 

“mother plant” (“planhigyn tarddiol”) means an 

identified plant intended for propagation; 

“official description” (“disgrifiad swyddogol”) 

means the description of a variety provided for— 

(a) registration as a variety; or 

(b) the grant of plant variety rights; 

“official examination” (“archwiliad swyddogol”) 

means an examination or inspection conducted by 

an inspector, including one conducted by way of 

sample; 

“official label” (“label swyddogol”) means— 

(a) for certified plant material produced in Wales, 

a label issued or approved in accordance with 

regulation 10(2); 

(b) for certified plant material produced outside 

Wales, a label issued or approved by the 

responsible authority in the country or 

territory where the plant material was 

produced and which meets, as appropriate to 

the plant material to which the label relates, 

the requirements of Article 2 of Directive 

2014/96/EU; 

“officially recognised description” (“disgrifiad a 

gydnabyddir yn swyddogol”) means a description 

of key morphological features that enable the 

variety to be identified; 

“outside Wales” (“y tu allan i Gymru”) means any 

part of the United Kingdom other than Wales or 

any member State other than the United Kingdom; 

“plant material” (“deunyddiau planhigion”) means 

the plants and materials described in regulation 4; 

“plant variety rights” (“hawliau amrywogaeth 

planhigion”) means rights granted under— 

(a) Part 1 of the Plant Varieties Act 1997(1); 

                                                                               
(1) 1997 c. 66. Part I was amended by S.I. 2000/311, 2006/1261 and 

2011/1043. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 13



 8

(b) Council Regulation (EC) No 2100/94 on 

Community plant variety rights(1); or 

(c) domestic legislation in countries or territories, 

other than those forming part of the United 

Kingdom, that affords plant variety protection 

in accordance with UPOV; 

“practically free from defects’” (“rhydd rhag 

diffygion i bob pwrpas”) means that defects likely 

to impair the quality and usefulness of the 

propagating material or fruit plants, are present at a 

level equal to, or lower than, the level expected to 

result from good cultivating and handling 

practices, and that level is consistent with good 

cultivating and handling practices; 

“pre-basic material” (“deunyddiau cyn-sylfaenol”) 

means propagating material intended for the 

production of basic or certified material, which has 

been— 

(a) in relation to propagating material produced 

in Wales, certified as pre-basic material in 

accordance with regulation 9; 

(b) in relation to propagating material produced 

outside Wales,  certified as pre-basic material 

by a responsible authority in accordance with 

Articles 3 or 4 of Directive 2014/98/EU; 

“pre-basic mother plant” (“planhigyn tarddiol cyn-

sylfaenol”) means a mother plant intended for the 

production of pre-basic material; 

“propagating material” (“deunyddiau lluosogi”) 

means seeds, parts of plants and all plant material, 

including rootstocks, intended for the propagation 

and production of fruit plants; 

“responsible authority” (“awdurdod cyfrifol”) 

means the authority responsible for the quality of 

plant material in the country or territory where the 

plant material was produced; 

“supplier” (“cyflenwr”) means any person involved 

professionally in the reproduction, production, 

preserving, treating, importing or marketing of 

plant material; 

“supplier’s document” (“dogfen y cyflenwr”) 

means a document accompanying CAC material 

and which meets the requirements in Part 2 of 

Schedule 2; 

                                                                               
(1) OJ No L 227, 1.9.1994, p. 1 as last amended by Council 

Regulation (EC) No 15/2008 (OJ L 8, 11.1.2008, p. 2). 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 14



 9

“UPOV” (“UPOV”) means the International Union 

for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants(1); 

“variety” (“amrywogaeth”) means a plant grouping 

within a single botanical taxon of the lowest 

known rank, which can be— 

(a) defined by the expression of the 

characteristics resulting from a given 

genotype or combination of genotypes; 

(b) distinguished from any other plant grouping 

by the expression of at least one of the said 

characteristics; and 

(c) considered as an entity in view of its ability to 

be propagated unchanged; 

“visual inspection” (“arolygiad gweledol”) means 

the examination of plants or parts of plants in 

facilities, fields and lots, by an inspector or, where 

appropriate, the supplier, using the unaided eye, 

lens, stereoscope or microscope. 

Interpretation: Directives 

3.—(1) In these Regulations— 

“Directive 2000/29/EC” (“Cyfarwyddeb 

2000/29/EC”) means Council Directive 

2000/29/EC on protective measures against the 

introduction into the Community of organisms 

harmful to plants or plant products and against 

their spread within the Community(2); 

“Directive 2008/90/EC” (“Cyfarwyddeb 

2008/90/EC”) means Council Directive 

2008/90/EC on the marketing of fruit plant 

propagating material and fruit plants intended for 

fruit production(3); 

“Directive 2014/96/EU” (“Cyfarwyddeb 

2014/96/EU”) means Commission Implementing 

Directive 2014/96/EU on the requirements for the 

labelling, sealing and packaging of fruit plant 

propagating material and fruit plants intended for 

fruit production, falling within the scope of 

Council Directive 2008/90/EC(4); 

                                                                               
(1) The International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of 

Plants (UPOV) was established by the International Convention 
for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (“UPOV 
Convention”). The UPOV Convention was adopted on 2nd 
December 1961 by a Diplomatic Conference held in Paris, revised 
in 1972 and 1991 and ratified by the United Kingdom on 3rd 
December 1998. 

(2) OJ No L 169, 10.7.2000, p. 1 as last amended by Regulation (EU) 
2016/2031 of the European Parliament of the Council (OJ No L 
317, 23.11.2016, p. 4). 

(3) OJ No L 267, 8.10.2008, p. 8; as last amended by Regulation (EU) 
No 652/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ 
No L 189, 27.6.2014, p. 1). 

(4) OJ No L 298, 16.10.2014, p. 12. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 15



 10

“Directive 2014/97/EU” (“Cyfarwyddeb 

2014/97/EU”) means Commission Implementing 

Directive 2014/97/EU implementing Council 

Directive 2008/90/EC as regards the registration of 

suppliers and of varieties and the common list of 

varieties(1); 

“Directive 2014/98/EU” (“Cyfarwyddeb 

2014/98/EU”) means Commission Implementing 

Directive 2014/98/EU implementing Council 

Directive 2008/90/EC as regards specific 

requirements for the genus and species of fruit 

plants referred to in Annex I thereto, specific 

requirements to be met by suppliers and detailed 

rules concerning official inspections(2). 

(2) References in these Regulations to Annexes I, II, 

III, IV or V to Directive 2014/98/EU are references to 

that Annex as amended from time to time.  

Plant material to which these Regulations apply 

4.—(1) These Regulations apply in relation to fruit 

plants and propagating material of the genera and 

species listed in Schedule 3 and their hybrids. 

(2) They also apply in relation to parts of plants, 

including rootstocks, of other genera or species and 

their hybrids if material from fruit plants listed in 

Schedule 3 (or any hybrid of such fruit plants) is, or is 

to be, grafted on to them. 

(3) They do not apply in relation to plant material 

intended for export from Wales to any country outside 

the European Union provided the plant material is 

identified as such and kept sufficiently isolated. 

PART 2 

Marketing of Plant Material 

Marketing of plant material 

5.—(1) A supplier may only market plant material 

if— 

(a) the supplier is registered in accordance with 

regulation 11; and  

(b) the plant material meets the requirements in 

paragraph (2). 

(2) The plant material must be— 

(a) certified plant material or CAC material; 

(b) a variety that may be marketed in accordance 

with regulation 7; 

                                                                               
(1) OJ No L 298, 16.10.2014, p. 16. 
(2) OJ No L 298, 16.10.2014, p. 22. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 16



 11

(c) marketed with a reference to the variety to 

which the plant material belongs in 

accordance with regulation 8; 

(d) in relation to certified plant material, labelled, 

sealed and packaged in accordance with 

regulation 10; and 

(e) in relation to CAC material, accompanied by 

a supplier’s document. 

(3) The Welsh Ministers may authorise the 

marketing of plant material from any country outside 

the European Union if satisfied the plant material has 

been produced under conditions equivalent to the 

requirements for plant material in these Regulations. 

(4) Paragraph (3) ceases to have effect on 31 

December 2018. 

Exceptions 

6. Regulation 5(1)(b) does not apply to the 

marketing of plant material intended for— 

(a) trials or scientific purposes; 

(b) selection work; 

(c) measures aimed at the conservation of genetic 

diversity. 

Varieties that may be marketed 

7.—(1) Plant material is of a variety that may be 

marketed if the variety fulfils one or more of the 

requirements of paragraph (2).  

(2) The variety must— 

(a) have been granted plant variety rights; 

(b) be registered as a variety; 

(c) be the subject of an application for— 

(i) plant variety rights; or 

(ii) registration as a variety; 

(d) have been marketed prior to 30 September 

2012 within the European Union and have an 

officially recognised description; or 

(e) in relation to varieties with no intrinsic value 

for commercial crop production being 

marketed within the United Kingdom— 

(i) have an officially recognised description; 

and   

(ii) be CAC material. 

(3) A supplier who markets plant material of a 

variety described in paragraph (2)(e) must ensure the 

plant material is accompanied by a supplier’s 

document stating that it is marketed in accordance with 

the second paragraph of Article 7(2) of Directive 

2008/90/EC.  

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 17



 12

(4) In this regulation, “registered as a variety” 

(“cofrestredig fel amrywogaeth”) (and “registration” 

(“cofrestru”) is to be construed accordingly) means— 

(a) registration in Wales as a variety in 

accordance with Schedule 4; or 

(b) registration outside Wales as a variety by the 

responsible authority in the country or 

territory in accordance with Article 4 of 

Directive 2014/97/EU. 

References to variety of plant material 

8. Plant material is marketed with a reference to its 

variety if it is marketed, in relation to— 

(a) a variety of plant material that is the subject of 

an application for a grant of plant variety 

rights, by reference to the breeder’s reference 

or the proposed name of the variety; 

(b) a registered variety, by reference to its 

registered name; 

(c) a variety that is the subject of an application 

for such registration, by reference to the 

breeders’ reference or the proposed name of 

the variety; 

(d) rootstocks that do not belong to a variety, by 

reference to the appropriate species or 

interspecific hybrid. 

Certification of plant material 

9.—(1) If the requirements of paragraph (2) are 

satisfied, an inspector must— 

(a) certify plant material produced in Wales as 

being— 

(i) pre-basic material; 

(ii) basic material; or 

(iii) certified material;  

(b) issue a certificate confirming certification (a 

crop inspection certificate).  

(2) The requirements are that on official 

examination, the plant material has been found to 

comply with the requirements for certification set out 

in the relevant provisions of Schedule 5. 

(3) An application for certification of plant material 

produced in Wales must be made in writing to the 

Welsh Ministers and must be accompanied by such 

information as the Welsh Ministers may require. 

(4) An official label issued in accordance with these 

Regulations in relation to certified plant material is 

sufficient evidence that an inspector has certified the 

plant material to which the official label relates as 

being certified plant material. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 18



 13

Labelling, sealing and packaging of certified plant 

material 

10.—(1) Certified plant material, which is marketed, 

must be labelled, sealed and packaged in accordance 

with this regulation. 

(2) The Welsh Ministers must issue or approve a 

label (an official label) if that label meets the 

requirements in Part 1 of Schedule 2.  

(3) But a label used in the retail supply of certified 

plant material to a non-professional final consumer 

need only contain appropriate product information, 

including the name of the responsible authority, the 

supplier’s name or registration number, the botanical 

name and variety denomination.  

(4) An official label must be affixed to the certified 

plant material. 

(5) Where certified plant material forms part of the 

same lot and is being marketed in a package, bundle or 

container, an official label must be affixed to that 

package, bundle or container. 

(6) Paragraphs (4) and (5) do not apply where 

certified plant material is accompanied by a plant 

passport issued in accordance with Directive 

2000/29/EC, which contains the information in 

paragraph 4 of Schedule 2. 

(7) A supplier must not market certified plant 

material in lots of two or more plants or parts of plants 

unless those lots are sufficiently homogeneous and are 

properly packaged. 

(8) For the purposes of paragraph (7), “properly 

packaged” means the plants or parts of plants—  

(a) are in a package or container that is sealed in 

a way that prevents the package or container 

from being opened without damaging the 

closure or rendering the official label invalid; 

or 

(b) form part of a bundle that is tied in such a 

way that the plants or parts of plants forming 

part of the bundle cannot be separated without 

damaging the tie or ties. 

PART 3 

Suppliers 

Registration of suppliers 

11.—(1) A supplier must not market plant material 

unless registered as a supplier by the Welsh Ministers 

in accordance with this regulation. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 19



 14

(2) But paragraph (1) does not apply to suppliers 

who are only marketing plant material to non-

professional final consumers. 

(3) An application for registration must be made in 

writing to the Welsh Ministers and must be 

accompanied by such information as the Welsh 

Ministers may require. 

(4) The Welsh Ministers must register a supplier if 

satisfied that person will comply with these 

Regulations. 

(5) The Welsh Ministers must inform the supplier— 

(a) of the Welsh Ministers’ decision under 

paragraph (4) within 28 days of making it; 

and  

(b) where the decision is to register the supplier, 

of their registration number.  

(6) A person who, immediately before the coming 

into force of these Regulations, was registered as a 

supplier in accordance with regulation 7 of the 

Marketing of Fruit Plant Material Regulations 2010(1) 

is registered for the purposes of this regulation. 

(7) A person who is registered as a plant trader in 

accordance with Part 4 of the Plant Health (Wales) 

Order 2006(2) is registered for the purposes of this 

regulation. 

(8) The Welsh Ministers may, by notice— 

(a) modify a supplier’s registration; or 

(b) revoke or suspend a supplier’s registration if 

satisfied the supplier— 

(i) has failed to comply with any provision 

of these Regulations; or 

(ii) is no longer acting as a supplier. 

(9) Unless the Welsh Ministers otherwise direct, a 

revocation or suspension under paragraph (8)(b) has 

immediate effect and continues in effect unless the 

registration is reinstated. 

Appeals 

12.—(1) A supplier aggrieved by a decision of the 

Welsh Ministers not to register them under regulation 

11(4) or to modify, revoke or suspend their registration 

under regulation 11(8) may, within 21 days of being 

notified of the decision, appeal against it to a person 

appointed for the purpose by the Welsh Ministers. 

(2) The appointed person must consider the appeal 

and any representations made by the Welsh Ministers, 

and, within a period of 21 days beginning with the day 

on which they receive the appeal or representations 

                                                                               
(1) S.I. 2010/2079.  
(2) S.I. 2006/1643 (W. 158). 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 20



 15

(whichever is the later), report in writing with a 

recommended course of action to the Welsh Ministers. 

(3) The Welsh Ministers must then make a final 

decision and notify the appellant, together with the 

reasons for that decision. 

Register of suppliers 

13.—(1) The Welsh Ministers must maintain a 

register of registered suppliers. 

(2) The register must contain the following 

information— 

(a) the name, address and contact details of the 

supplier; 

(b) which of the activities listed in paragraph (3) 

the supplier is involved in; 

(c) the genera or species concerned; 

(d) the address of the premises where the activity 

is carried out; 

(e) the supplier’s registration number. 

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(b), the 

activities are the reproduction, production, preserving, 

treating, importing or marketing of plant material. 

(4) A supplier must notify the Welsh Ministers as 

soon as practicable of any change to the information 

required under paragraph (2)(a) to (d). 

(5) The Welsh Ministers may publish the register, or 

any part of it, at the Welsh Ministers’ discretion. 

Suppliers: plan to identify and monitor production 

process 

14.—(1) A supplier involved in the production of 

plant material must have in place a plan to identify and 

monitor critical points in the production of that plant 

material. 

(2) The plan must include details on— 

(a) the location and number of plants; 

(b) the timing of cultivation; 

(c) propagating operations; 

(d) packaging, storage and transportation 

operations. 

Suppliers: record keeping 

15.—(1) A supplier must keep records of— 

(a) any sales or purchases of plant material; 

(b) all deliveries of plant material to and from the 

supplier’s premises; 

(c) any monitoring of critical points in the 

production of that plant material; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 21



 16

(d) the composition and origin of any plant 

material of different origins mixed by the 

supplier during packaging, storage or 

transport or at delivery; 

(e) all plant material under production on their 

premises;  

(f) field inspections and sampling and testing 

undertaken in relation to plant material under 

their control; and 

(g) any occurrence on their premises of— 

(i) any of the organisms or diseases listed in 

Part A of Annex I, and in Annex II, to 

Directive 2014/98/EU;  

(ii) plant material that exceeds the tolerance 

levels in the relevant column of the table 

in Part B of Annex I to Directive 

2014/98/EU; and 

(iii) a harmful organism listed in the Annexes 

to Directive 2000/29/EC. 

(2) The records referred to in this regulation must be 

kept for a minimum of 3 years. 

PART 4 

Enforcement 

Inspectors 

16.—(1) The Welsh Ministers must appoint 

inspectors for the purposes of these Regulations. 

(2) An inspector has the powers set out in this Part of 

the Regulations. 

Entry and inspection of land and premises 

17.—(1) For the purposes of enforcing these 

Regulations, an inspector has power, on producing a 

duly authenticated authorisation, to enter any land or 

premises (except any premises used wholly or mainly 

as a private dwelling house) at any reasonable hour by 

giving reasonable notice. 

(2) But the requirement to give notice is not 

necessary— 

(a) where reasonable efforts to agree an 

appointment have failed; 

(b) where an inspector has reasonable suspicion 

of a failure to comply with these Regulations; 

(c) in an emergency. 

(3) A justice of the peace may, by signed warrant, 

permit an inspector to enter any land or premises, if 

necessary by reasonable force, if the justice, on sworn 

information in writing, is satisfied that— 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 22



 17

(a) there are reasonable grounds to enter that land 

or premises for the purpose of enforcing these 

Regulations; and 

(b) any of the conditions in paragraph (4) are met. 

(4) The conditions are— 

(a) entry to the premises has been, or is likely to 

be, refused, and notice of the intention to 

apply for a warrant has been given to the 

occupier; 

(b) asking for admission to the premises, or 

giving notice, would defeat the object of the 

entry; 

(c) entry is required urgently: 

(d) the premises are unoccupied or the occupier is 

temporarily absent. 

(5) A warrant is valid for three months. 

(6) An inspector entering any land or premises may 

be accompanied by any person (up to a maximum of 4 

persons), equipment, materials or vehicle as the 

inspector considers necessary for the purposes of this 

regulation. 

(7) An inspector entering any premises which are 

unoccupied or from which the occupier is temporarily 

absent must leave them as effectively secured against 

unauthorised entry as they were before entry. 

Search and examination of items on land and 

premises 

18.—(1) Where an inspector exercises the power 

conferred by regulation 17, the inspector may— 

(a) open any container; 

(b) carry out any searches, inspections, 

measurements and tests; 

(c) take samples; 

(d) have access to, and inspect, any books, 

documents or records (in whatever form they 

are held) relating to these Regulations and 

remove them to enable them to be copied; 

(e) photograph or copy anything whose 

production the inspector has power to require 

under sub-paragraph (d); 

(f) photograph anything which the inspector has 

reasonable cause to believe may be relevant in 

connection with the enforcement of these 

Regulations; 

(g) seize any computers and associated equipment 

for the purpose of copying documents 

provided that they are returned as soon as 

practicable. 

(2) Any person who accompanies an inspector in 

accordance with this regulation may perform any of 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 23



 18

the inspector’s functions but only under the 

supervision of that inspector. 

Information notice 

19. An inspector may, by notice served on any 

person, require that person to provide such information 

as is specified in the notice in such form and within 

such period following service of the notice or at such 

time as is so specified. 

Prohibition on movement notice 

20. An inspector may, by notice served on any 

person, prohibit that person from moving plant 

material from any premises where the inspector has 

reasonable grounds to suspect the plant material fails 

to comply with the requirements of these Regulations. 

Enforcement and prohibition notice 

21.—(1) An inspector may serve a notice on any 

person who contravenes, or who the inspector has 

reasonable grounds to suspect may contravene, these 

Regulations— 

(a) requiring that person to act in accordance with 

the Regulations (an “enforcement notice”); 

(b) prohibiting that person from acting in breach 

of them (a “prohibition notice”). 

(2) The notice must give reasons for serving it and, if 

appropriate, specify what action must be taken and 

give time limits. 

Appeals against notices 

22.—(1) Any person who is aggrieved by a decision 

of an inspector to serve a notice under this Part may 

appeal to a magistrates’ court. 

(2) The procedure on appeal to a magistrates’ court 

is by way of complaint and the Magistrates’ Courts 

Act 1980(1) applies to the proceedings. 

(3) The period within which an appeal must be 

brought is 28 days from the service of the notice or, in 

the case of an enforcement notice, the period specified 

in the notice, whichever ends earlier. 

(4) A notice served under this Part must state— 

(a) the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court; 

(b) the period in which such an appeal may be 

brought. 

                                                                               
(1) 1980 c. 43; sections 51 and 52 have been substituted by section 47 

of the Courts Act 2003 (c. 39). Sections 53 and 54 have been 
amended by section 17(6) of the Crime and Courts Act 2013 (c. 
22). 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 24



 19

(5) On an appeal under this regulation, the court may 

either cancel or affirm the notice and, if it affirms the 

notice, it may do so either in its original form or with 

such modifications as it thinks fit. 

Compliance with notices 

23. A notice served under this Part must be complied 

with at the expense of the person on whom it is served 

and, if it is not complied with, an inspector may 

arrange for it to be complied with at the expense of 

that person. 

Offences and penalties 

24.—(1) It is an offence for a person to— 

(a) fail to comply with a notice served under— 

(i) regulation 19 (information notice); 

(ii) regulation 20 (prohibition on movement 

notice); 

(iii) regulation 21(1)(a) (enforcement notice); 

(iv) regulation 21(1)(b) (prohibition notice); 

(b) fail, without reasonable excuse, to give any 

assistance that a person may require for the 

performance of that person’s functions under 

these Regulations; 

(c) intentionally obstruct an inspector in the 

exercise of any powers conferred by these 

Regulations. 

(2) A person guilty of an offence under paragraph 

(1) is liable on summary conviction to a fine not 

exceeding level 3 on the standard scale. 

Offences by bodies corporate 

25.—(1) If an offence committed under these 

Regulations by a body corporate is proved— 

(a) to have been committed with the consent or 

connivance of an officer, or 

(b) to be attributable to any neglect on the part of 

an officer, 

the officer as well as the body corporate is guilty of the 

offence and liable to be proceeded against and 

punished accordingly. 

(2) If the affairs of a body corporate are managed by 

its members, paragraph (1) applies in relation to the 

acts and defaults of a member in connection with the 

member’s functions of management as if the member 

were a director of the body. 

(3) In paragraph (1), “officer”, in relation to a body 

corporate, means a director, member of the committee 

of management, chief executive, manager, secretary or 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 25



 20

other similar officer of the body, or a person 

purporting to act in any such capacity. 

PART 5 

Administration and revocations 

Notices and authorisations 

26. A notice or authorisation given under these 

Regulations— 

(a) must be in writing; 

(b) may be made subject to conditions; 

(c) may be amended, suspended or revoked by 

notice. 

Arrangements for official measures 

27.—(1) The Welsh Ministers may make such 

arrangements with any person (“A”) as the Welsh 

Ministers consider necessary or desirable for the 

purpose of enabling A to carry out official measures 

under these Regulations on the Welsh Ministers’ 

behalf. 

(2) But the Welsh Ministers must not make any 

arrangement under this regulation unless satisfied that 

the arrangement makes provision for the purpose of 

preventing any person from— 

(a) deriving any private gain from any official 

measures carried out under the arrangement; 

and 

(b) carrying out any official measures under the 

arrangement except under official supervision. 

(3) The Welsh Ministers may include in any 

arrangement such conditions as the Welsh Ministers 

consider necessary or desirable for the purposes 

referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2), including 

conditions— 

(a) specifying— 

(i) the official measures that A must carry 

out; 

(ii) the methods to be used in connection 

with the official measures that A carries 

out; 

(iii) the fees that A may charge in relation to 

the official measures that A carries out; 

(iv) the records that A must keep in 

connection with the official measures 

that A carries out; 

(b) prohibiting A from— 

(i) charging fees in relation to the official 

measures that A carries out under the 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 26



 21

arrangement except to the extent that 

these do not exceed the costs that A 

incurs in carrying them out; 

(ii) carrying out the official measures except 

under official supervision; 

(c) prohibiting A from making any further 

arrangement with any other person (“B”) for 

any purpose in connection with the carrying 

out of the official measures that A has 

arranged with the Welsh Ministers to carry 

out, unless— 

(i) the Welsh Ministers have approved all 

the conditions of the further arrangement 

and A has received the prior written 

approval of the Welsh Ministers to make 

the further arrangement; 

(ii) the further arrangement includes a 

condition prohibiting B from making any 

subsequent arrangements for any purpose 

connected with the carrying out of the 

official measures in respect of which the 

Welsh Ministers made the arrangement 

with A; 

(iii) the further arrangement includes an 

acknowledgment by A that the Welsh 

Ministers may vary, revoke or suspend 

the further arrangement if it appears to 

the Welsh Ministers that B is not 

complying, or has failed to comply, with 

any condition of the further arrangement; 

and 

(iv) the further arrangement includes the 

conditions specified in sub-paragraphs 

(a) and (b) of this paragraph and for these 

purposes references in those sub-

paragraphs to A are to be construed as 

references to B and references to “the 

arrangement” are to be construed as 

references to the further arrangement. 

(4) The Welsh Ministers must not approve the 

making of any further arrangement under this 

regulation unless satisfied that B will not— 

(a) derive any private gain from any official 

measures that B is to be authorised to carry 

out under the further arrangement; 

(b) carry out any official measures under the 

further arrangement except under official 

supervision. 

(5) The Welsh Ministers may, by notice to A or B 

(as the case may be), vary, suspend or revoke an 

arrangement or further arrangement, or any conditions 

of an arrangement or further arrangement made under 

this regulation. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 27



 22

(6) A notice given under paragraph (5) must 

specify— 

(a) in respect of a variation or revocation, the date 

from which the variation or revocation takes 

effect; 

(b) in respect of a suspension, the period during 

which the suspension has effect. 

(7) When a variation, revocation or suspension has 

effect, the Welsh Ministers may, for any purposes in 

relation to these Regulations, continue to have regard 

to such of the official measures carried out under an 

arrangement (or further arrangement) which was 

varied, revoked or suspended as appear to the Welsh 

Ministers to be official measures carried out in 

accordance with the provisions of these Regulations. 

(8) In this regulation, “official measures” include 

official examinations, growing trials, tests and 

assessments. 

Transitional provision 

28.—(1) This regulation applies where plant material 

is produced from a parent plant existing before 19 June 

2017. 

(2) A supplier may market such plant material if— 

(a) the parent plant meets any certification or 

CAC requirements relevant to it under the 

Marketing of Fruit Plant Material Regulations 

2010; and  

(b) the supplier’s document accompanying it, or 

the official label affixed to it, includes a 

reference to Article 32 of Directive 

2014/98/EU. 

(3) In this regulation, “parent plant” means a pre-

basic, basic or certified mother plant or CAC material. 

(4) This regulation ceases to have effect on 31 

December 2022. 

Revocation 

29. The Marketing of Fruit Plant Material 

Regulations 2010(1) are revoked in relation to Wales. 

 

 

 

Lesley Griffiths 

Cabinet Secretary for Environment and Rural Affairs, 

one of the Welsh Ministers 

14 June 2017 

                                                                               
(1) S.I. 2010/2079. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 28



 23

SCHEDULE 1  Regulation 2 

CAC material 

Conditions for CAC material (other than 

rootstocks not belonging to a variety) 

1.—(1) CAC material (other than rootstocks not 

belonging to a variety) may only be marketed if it 

fulfils the requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the CAC material— 

(a) is propagated from an identified source of 

material recorded by the supplier; 

(b) is true to the description of its variety in 

accordance with paragraph 3; 

(c) complies with health requirements in 

paragraph 4; and  

(d) complies with requirements concerning 

defects in paragraph 5. 

(3) Where CAC material no longer complies with 

sub-paragraph (2), the supplier— 

(a) must remove it from the vicinity of other 

CAC material;  

(b) may take appropriate measures to ensure that 

that material complies with sub-paragraph (2) 

again. 

Rootstocks not belonging to a variety 

2.—(1) CAC material consisting of rootstocks not 

belonging to a variety may only be marketed if it 

fulfils the requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the CAC material— 

(a) is true to the description of its species; 

(b) complies with health requirements in 

paragraph 4; and 

(c) complies with requirements concerning 

defects in paragraph 5. 

(3) Where CAC material no longer complies with 

sub-paragraph (2), the supplier— 

(a) must remove it from the vicinity of other 

CAC material; 

(b) may take appropriate measures to ensure that 

that material complies with sub-paragraph (2) 

again. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 29



 24

Trueness to the description of the variety 

3.—(1) A supplier must establish and regularly 

verify the trueness of CAC material to the description 

of its variety in accordance with this paragraph. 

(2) This is done by observing the expression of the 

characteristics of a variety, that observation being 

based on one of the following elements— 

(a) its official description; 

(b) the description accompanying an application 

for registration; 

(c) the description accompanying an application 

for plant variety rights; 

(d) where the variety is registered with an 

officially recognised description, or subject to 

an application for registration with an 

officially recognised description, that 

description. 

Health requirements 

4.—(1) CAC material must be practically free from 

the pests listed in Annex I and in Annex II to Directive 

2014/98/EU, as regards the genus or species 

concerned. 

(2) This is established by a visual inspection by the 

supplier, or where there is doubt, by sampling and 

testing. 

(3) A visual inspection and sampling and testing 

must be carried out in accordance with Annex IV to 

Directive 2014/98/EU. 

(4) But sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to CAC 

material during cryopreservation. 

(5) CAC material belonging to the species Citrus L., 

Fortunella Swingle, or Poncirus Raf— 

(a) must be produced from an identified source of 

material that has been found to be free, on 

sampling and testing, from the pests listed in 

Annex II to Directive 2014/98/EU for those 

species; and 

(b) since the beginning of the last cycle of 

vegetation, must have been found, on visual 

inspection and any sampling and testing, to be 

practically free from the pests listed in Annex 

II to Directive 2014/98/EU, as regards the 

species concerned. 

(6) In this paragraph, “practically free from pests” 

means that the extent to which pests are present on the 

propagating material or fruit plants is sufficiently low 

to ensure acceptable quality and usefulness of the 

propagating material. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 30



 25

Requirements concerning defects likely to impair 

quality 

5.—(1) CAC material must be practically free from 

defects. 

(2) This is established on the basis of a visual 

inspection. 

(3) Injuries, discoloration, scar tissues or desiccation 

are considered as defects, if they affect the quality and 

usefulness of CAC material as propagating material. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 31



 26

SCHEDULE 2 Regulation 2 

Official labels and supplier’s documents 

PART 1 

Official labels 

1. An official label used in relation to pre-basic 

material must be white with a diagonal violet stripe. 

2. An official label used in relation to basic material 

must be white. 

3. An official label used in relation to certified 

material must be blue. 

4. An official label must— 

(a) not have been previously used; 

(b) contain the statement “EU rules and 

standards”; 

(c) state the following particulars— 

(i) the name of the responsible authority or 

its distinguishing abbreviation; 

(ii) the name of the supplier or their 

supplier’s registration number; 

(iii) the crop inspection certificate number; 

(iv) the botanical name of the plant material; 

(v) the category of plant material (pre-basic 

material, basic material, certified material 

or CAC material) and, for basic material, 

the generation number; 

(vi) the denomination of the variety, and 

where appropriate, the clone; 

(vii) in the case of rootstocks not belonging to 

a variety, the name of the species or the 

interspecific hybrid concerned; 

(viii) in the case of grafted fruit plants, the 

denomination of the variety of the 

rootstock and of the top-graft; 

(ix) for varieties for which an application for 

registration of plant variety right is 

pending, any information given in 

relation to paragraphs (vi) and (viii) must 

be prefaced with the words “proposed 

denomination” and “application 

pending”; 

(x) where appropriate, the words “variety 

with an officially recognised 

description”; 

(xi) the quantity of plant material; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 32



 27

(xii) where not Wales, the country of 

production and its respective code or 

abbreviation; 

(xiii) the year of issue, or in the case of a 

replacement label, the year of issue of the 

original label; 

(xiv) in the case of a genetically modified 

variety— 

(aa) a statement that the variety has 

been genetically modified; and 

(bb) a list of the genetically modified 

organisms. 

5. The information and particulars required on an 

official label must be indelibly printed in one of the 

official languages of the European Union, easily 

visible and legible. 

6. An official label may contain such further 

particulars as the Welsh Ministers consider 

appropriate. 

7. In this Part, the “crop inspection certificate 

number” means the number allocated to the crop 

inspection certificate by the inspector at the time of 

issue. 

PART 2 

Supplier’s document: CAC material 

8. A supplier’s document accompanying CAC 

material must— 

(a) contain the statements “EU rules and 

standards” and “CAC material”; and 

(b) state the following particulars— 

(i) the names of the responsible authority 

and member State where the supplier’s 

document was prepared or their 

distinguishing abbreviations; 

(ii) the supplier’s registration number; 

(iii) the individual serial, week or batch 

number; 

(iv) the botanical name of the plant material; 

(v) the denomination of the variety and, 

where appropriate, the clone; 

(vi) in the case of rootstocks not belonging to 

a variety, the name of the species or the 

interspecific hybrid concerned; 

(vii) in the case of grafted fruit plants, the 

denomination of the variety of the 

rootstock and of the top-graft; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 33



 28

(viii) for varieties for which an application for 

registration of plant variety right is 

pending, any information given in 

relation to paragraphs (v) and (vii) must 

be pre-fixed with the words “proposed 

denomination” and “application 

pending”; 

(ix) the quantity; 

(x) the country of production and its 

distinguishing abbreviations where 

different from the member State in which 

the supplier’s document was prepared; 

(xi) the date the supplier’s document was 

issued. 

9. The information and particulars required in a 

supplier’s document must be indelibly printed in one 

of the official languages of the European Union, easily 

visible and legible. 

10. A supplier’s document accompanying CAC 

material produced in Wales may contain such further 

particulars as the Welsh Ministers consider 

appropriate. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 34



 29

SCHEDULE 3 Regulation 4 

Genera and species to which these 

Regulations apply 

Genera and species Common name (for 

guidance only) 

Castanea sativa Mill. Chestnut 

Citrus L. includes Grapefruit, 

Lemon, Lime, 

Mandarin and Orange 

Corylus avellana L. Hazel 

Cydonia oblonga Mill. Quince 

Ficus carica L. Common edible fig 

Fortunella Swingle Kumquat 

Fragaria L. All cultivated 

strawberry species 

Juglans regia L. Walnut 

Malus Mill. Apple 

Olea europaea L. Olive 

Pistacia vera L. Pistachio 

Poncirus Raf. Trifoliate orange 

Prunus armeniaca L. Apricot 

Prunus avium (L.) L. Sweet cherry 

Prunus cerasus L. Sour cherry 

Prunus domestica L. Plum 

Prunus dulcis (Mill) D A 

Webb (otherwise known 

as Prunus amygdalus 

Batsch) 

Almond 

Prunus persica (L.) 

Batsch 

Peach 

Prunus salicina Lindley Japanese plum 

Pyrus L. All cultivated edible 

pears, including perry 

pears 

Ribes L. Blackcurrant, 

gooseberry, redcurrant 

and white currant 

Rubus L. Blackberry, raspberry 

and hybrid berries 

Vaccinium L. includes Blueberry, 

cranberry and bilberry 

 

 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 35



 30

SCHEDULE 4 Regulation 7(4) 

Registration of varieties 

Interpretation 

1. In this Schedule— 

“appropriate protocol” (“protocol priodol”) 

means— 

(a) a protocol published by the Administrative 

Council of the Community Plant Variety 

Office in relation to distinctness, uniformity 

and stability tests for the particular genus or 

species concerned; or 

(b) where no protocol has been published for the 

relevant genus or species, guidelines produced 

by UPOV relating to the conduct of tests for 

distinctness, uniformity and stability; or 

(c) where protocols mentioned at paragraph (a) or 

guidelines mentioned at paragraph (b) do not 

exist, a protocol or guidelines established by 

the Welsh Ministers in relation to the same 

matters; 

“Directive 2001/18/EC” (“Cyfarwyddeb 

2001/18/EC”) means Directive 2001/18/EC of the 

European Parliament and of the Council on the 

deliberate release into the environment of 

genetically modified organisms and repealing 

Council Directive 90/220/EEC(1); 

“distinct” (“gwahanol”) means the variety is 

clearly distinguishable by one or more 

characteristics that result from a particular 

genotype or combination of genotypes, from any 

other variety whose existence is a matter of 

common knowledge at the time of the application 

for registration as a variety; 

“Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003” (“Rheoliad (EC) 

Rhif 1829/2003”) means Regulation (EC) No 

1829/2003 of the European Parliament and of the 

Council on genetically modified food and feed(2); 

“stable” (“sefydlog”) means the characteristics of 

the variety, which are included in the examination 

for distinctness, as well as any others used for the 

variety description, remain unchanged after 

repeated propagation or, in the case of 

micropropagation, at the end of each such cycle; 

                                                                               
(1) OJ No L 106, 17.4.2001, p. 1 as last amended by Directive (EU) 

2015/412 (OJ No L 68, 13.3.2015, p. 1). 
(2) OJ No L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 1; as last amended by Regulation 

(EC) No. 298/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council 
(OJ No L 97, 9.4.2008, p. 64). 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 36



 31

“uniform” (“unffurf”) means, subject to the 

variation that may be expected from the particular 

features of its propagation, the variety is 

sufficiently uniform in those characteristics which 

are included in the examination for distinctness, as 

well as any other characteristics used for the 

variety description. 

Application for registration with an official 

description 

2.—(1) An application for registration of a variety 

with an official description must be made in writing to 

the Welsh Ministers in such form as the Welsh 

Ministers may require. 

(2) An application must be accompanied by— 

(a) any technical information (such as, but not 

limited to, details of the genus and species to 

which the variety belongs, its common name, 

the applicant’s details, the variety 

denomination, origin, and characteristics of 

the variety) required under an appropriate 

protocol that is relevant to the species;   

(b) information on whether the variety is 

officially registered elsewhere in the United 

Kingdom or in another member State, or is 

the subject of an application for such a 

registration; 

(c) a proposed denomination; and  

(d) such other information as the Welsh Ministers 

may require. 

(3) Where applicable, an application may be 

accompanied by details of an official description 

established by a responsible authority elsewhere in the 

United Kingdom or in another member State. 

Registration 

3.—(1) The Welsh Ministers must register a variety 

with an official description if satisfied that— 

(a) the variety is distinct, uniform and stable; 

(b) a sample of the variety is available; and 

(c) in relation to genetically modified varieties, 

the genetically modified organism of which 

the variety consists is authorised for 

cultivation pursuant to Directive 2001/18/EC 

or Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003. 

(2) The Welsh Ministers must base acceptance that a 

variety is distinct, uniform and stable on the results of 

growing trials in accordance with paragraph 6. 

(3) Growing trials are not required where the Welsh 

Ministers are satisfied, on the basis of information 

submitted by the application, that an official 

description established by a responsible body outside 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 37



 32

Wales fulfils the conditions for registration required by 

sub-paragraph (1). 

(4) The Welsh Ministers may register a variety that 

has been marketed within the European Union prior to 

30 September 2012 provided that variety has an 

officially recognised description. 

Register of varieties 

4.—(1) The Welsh Ministers must maintain and 

publish a register of varieties (“the register”). 

(2) The register must include the following 

information for each registered variety— 

(a) the denomination of the variety and 

synonyms; 

(b) the species the variety belongs to; 

(c) the indication ‘official description’ or 

‘officially recognised description’, as 

appropriate; 

(d) the date of registration, or, where applicable, 

of renewal of registration;  

(e) the date the validity of the registration ends. 

(3) The Welsh Ministers must also, in relation to 

each variety registered, keep a file containing a 

description of the variety and a summary of the facts 

relevant to its registration. 

Additional requirements for products to be used as 

genetically modified food or feed 

5.—(1) This paragraph applies to any variety from 

which products are derived for use as, or in— 

(a) food within the scope of Article 3 of 

Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003; or 

(b) feed within the scope of Article 15 of 

Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003. 

(2) Before registering any such variety, the Welsh 

Ministers must be satisfied that the food or feed has 

been authorised pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 

1829/2003. 

(3) Where a growing trial is required, a sample of the 

material of the variety must be submitted on request. 

Growing trials 

6.—(1) Growing trials may be carried out— 

(a) by the Welsh Ministers; 

(b) for the Welsh Ministers in accordance with 

arrangements for official measures made 

under regulation 27; or 

(c) by a responsible authority elsewhere in the 

United Kingdom or in another member State. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 38



 33

(2) Growing trials must— 

(a) establish whether a variety is distinct, uniform 

and stable; and 

(b) be conducted, as regards trial design, growing 

conditions and characteristics of the variety to 

be covered, in accordance with an appropriate 

protocol. 

Duration and renewal of registration 

7.—(1) Registration of a variety is valid— 

(a) in the case of a genetically modified variety, 

for the period for which the genetically 

modified organism of which the variety 

consists is authorised for cultivation pursuant 

to Directive 2001/18/EC or Regulation (EC) 

No 1829/2003; or 

(b) otherwise until the end of the 30th calendar 

year from the date of acceptance. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if the 

registration is— 

(a) renewed in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) 

or (4) (as appropriate); 

(b) revoked in accordance with paragraph 8. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the Welsh 

Ministers may, on the basis of a written application, 

renew the registration for a further period of 30 years 

if— 

(a) the variety is distinct, uniform and stable; 

(b) there is material of that variety available on 

the market. 

(4) In the case of a genetically modified variety— 

(a) any renewal of registration must be subject to 

a condition that the respective genetically 

modified organism continues to be authorised 

for cultivation pursuant to Directive 

2001/18/EC or Regulation (EC) No 

1829/2003; 

(b) the renewal period must be limited to the 

period of authorisation of the genetically 

modified organism concerned. 

(5) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the Welsh 

Ministers may renew the registration in the absence of 

a written application if satisfied renewal serves to 

preserve genetic diversity and sustainable production. 

Removal from register 

8.—(1) The Welsh Ministers must revoke the 

registration of a variety if— 

(a) it is no longer distinct, uniform or stable; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 39



 34

(b) there is no longer available any material of 

that variety that is sufficiently uniform or 

which corresponds to the description of the 

variety at the time of registration; 

(c) false or misleading information material to 

registration was provided to the Welsh 

Ministers in connection with the application 

for registration; 

(d) in the case of any genetically modified 

variety, the genetically modified organism 

contained in that variety ceases to be 

authorised pursuant to Directive 2001/18/EC 

or Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1)(a) to (c) does not apply if 

the Welsh Ministers are satisfied that the variety 

should remain on the register in the interests of 

preserving the genetic diversity of varieties. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 40



 35

SCHEDULE 5 Regulation 9 

Certification of plant material 

PART 1 

Introduction 

Interpretation 

1. In this Schedule— 

“appropriate protocol” (“protocol priodol”) 

means— 

(a) a protocol published by the European and 

Mediterranean Plant Protection Organisation 

in relation to the particular activity (such as, 

but not limited to, sampling and testing or 

multiplication, renewal and propagation, 

including by micropropagation, of mother 

plants) and the particular genus or species 

concerned; 

(b) where no protocol mentioned at paragraph (a) 

exists, a protocol in relation to the same 

matters which has international recognition; 

or 

(c) where neither protocol mentioned at 

paragraph (a) or (b) exists, a protocol 

established by the Welsh Ministers in relation 

to the same matters; 

“candidate pre-basic mother plant” (“planhigyn 

tarddiol cyn-sylfaenol sy’n destun cais”) means a 

mother plant which the supplier intends to have 

accepted as a pre-basic mother plant; 

“multiplication” (“lluosi”) means the vegetative 

production of plants in order to obtain a sufficient 

number of plants in the same category; 

“official inspection” (“arolygiad swyddogol”) 

means a visual inspection and, where appropriate, 

sampling and testing carried out by an inspector in 

accordance with paragraph 2; 

“renewal” (“adnewyddu”) means replacing a plant 

with a plant vegetatively produced from it. 

Official inspections 

2.—(1) During an official inspection, an inspector 

must pay attention to— 

(a) the suitability and use of methods by the 

supplier for checking each of the critical 

points in the production process; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 41



 36

(b) the overall competence of the supplier’s staff 

to carry out the production or reproduction of 

propagating material and fruit plants. 

(2) An inspector must keep records of the results and 

dates of all field inspections and sampling and testing 

carried out by that inspector. 

PART 2 

Certification of pre-basic material 

Propagating material (other than mother plants 

and rootstocks) 

3.—(1) Propagating material (other than mother 

plants and rootstocks) may be certified as pre-basic 

material if that material meets the requirements in sub-

paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the propagating 

material— 

(a) is directly propagated from a mother plant— 

(i) accepted in accordance with paragraph 5; 

(ii) obtained by multiplication or 

micropropagation in accordance with 

paragraph 13; 

(b) has been verified by an inspector as being true 

to the description of its variety in accordance 

with paragraph 7; 

(c) has been maintained in accordance with 

paragraph 8; 

(d) complies with the health requirements in 

paragraph 10; 

(e) where authorised under paragraph 8(2) to be 

grown in the field under non-insect proof 

conditions, is grown in soil that is found, by 

sampling and testing, to comply with 

paragraph 11; 

(f) complies with paragraph 12 concerning 

defects. 

(3) Where the mother plant or propagating material 

no longer fulfils the relevant requirements in sub-

paragraph (2), the supplier— 

(a) must remove the plant or material from the 

vicinity of other pre-basic mother plants and 

pre-basic material;  

(b) may take appropriate measures in order to 

ensure that the mother plant or material 

complies with those requirements again. 

(4) A supplier may use any mother plant or material 

removed in accordance with sub-paragraph (3)(a) as 

basic, certified or CAC material provided the plant or 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 42



 37

material fulfils the requirements set out in these 

Regulations for the respective categories. 

Rootstocks not belonging to a variety 

4.—(1) A rootstock not belonging to a variety may 

be certified as pre-basic material if it meets the 

requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the rootstock— 

(a) is directly propagated from a mother plant— 

(i) by vegetative or sexual propagation, and 

in the case of sexual propagation, by 

pollinating trees (pollenisers) that are 

directly produced by vegetative 

propagation from a mother plant; 

(ii) accepted in accordance with paragraph 5; 

(iii) obtained by multiplication or 

micropropagation in accordance with 

paragraph 13; 

(b) has been verified by an inspector as being true 

to the description of its variety in accordance 

with paragraph 7; 

(c) has been maintained in accordance with 

paragraph 8; 

(d) complies with the health requirements in 

paragraph 10; 

(e) where authorised under paragraph 8(2) to be 

grown in the field under non-insect proof 

conditions, is grown in soil that is found, by 

sampling and testing, to comply with 

paragraph 11; 

(f) complies with paragraph 12 concerning 

defects. 

(3) Where a rootstock, which is a pre-basic mother 

plant or pre-basic material, no longer fulfils the 

relevant requirements in sub-paragraph (2), the 

supplier— 

(a) must remove the mother plant or material 

from the vicinity of other pre-basic mother 

plants and pre-basic material;  

(b) may take appropriate measures to ensure the 

mother plant or the material complies with 

those requirements again. 

(4) A supplier may use any mother plant or material 

removed in accordance with sub-paragraph (3)(a) as 

basic, certified or CAC material provided the mother 

plant or material fulfils the requirements set out in 

these Regulations for the respective categories. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 43



 38

Requirements for the acceptance of a pre-basic 

mother plant 

5.—(1) A plant may be accepted as a pre-basic 

mother plant if an official inspection confirms— 

(a) compliance with paragraphs 7 to 12; and 

(b) its trueness to the description of its variety is 

established in accordance with this regulation. 

(2) An inspector must establish the trueness of the 

pre-basic mother plant to the description of its variety 

by the observation of the expression of the 

characteristics of the variety. 

(3) That observation must be based on one of the 

following elements— 

(a) the official description for varieties registered 

in a register of varieties, and for varieties 

legally protected by a plant variety right; 

(b) the description accompanying the application 

for varieties which are the subject of an 

application for registration in a register of 

varieties; 

(c) the description accompanying the application 

for varieties which are the subject of an 

application for registration of a plant variety 

right; 

(d) the officially recognised description, if the 

variety subject to that description is registered 

in a register of varieties. 

(4) Where sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) applies— 

(a) the pre-basic mother plant may only be 

accepted if a report, produced by an inspector 

or by a responsible authority outside Wales, is 

available proving that the respective variety is 

distinct, uniform and stable; 

(b) pending the registration of the variety, the 

mother plant concerned and the material 

produced from it may only be used for the 

production of basic or certified material and 

must not be marketed as pre-basic, basic or 

certified material. 

(5) Where the establishment of the trueness to the 

description of the variety is only possible on the basis 

of the characteristics of a fruiting plant— 

(a) the observation of the expression of the 

characteristics of the variety must be carried 

out on the fruits of a fruiting plant propagated 

from the pre-basic mother plant; and 

(b) those fruiting plants must be kept separate 

from the pre-basic mother plants and pre-

basic material. 

(6) Fruiting plants must be visually inspected in the 

most appropriate periods of the year taking into 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 44



 39

account climatic and growing conditions of plants of 

the genera or species concerned. 

(7) In this paragraph— 

“fruiting plant” (“planhigyn sy’n dwyn ffrwyth”) 

means a plant propagated from a mother plant and 

grown for the production of fruit in order to permit 

the verification of the varietal identity of that 

mother plant; 

“register of varieties” (“cofrestr amrywogaethau”) 

means— 

(a) in relation to the registration of varieties in 

Wales, the register maintained in accordance 

with paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 4; 

(b) in relation to the registration of varieties 

outside Wales, the register maintained in 

accordance with Article 3(1) of Directive 

2014/97/EU. 

Requirements for the acceptance of a rootstock not 

belonging to a variety 

6. An inspector may accept a rootstock not 

belonging to a variety as a pre-basic mother plant if it 

is true to the description of its species and if it 

complies with paragraphs 8 to 12. 

Verification of trueness to the description of the 

variety 

7.—(1) An inspector and, where appropriate, the 

supplier, must regularly verify the trueness of pre-

basic mother plants and of pre-basic material to the 

description of their variety, in accordance with 

paragraph 5(2) and (3), as appropriate for the variety 

concerned and the propagation method used. 

(2) In addition to the regular verification of pre-basic 

mother plants and pre-basic material, the inspector 

and, where appropriate, the supplier must, after each 

renewal of a mother plant, verify the pre-basic mother 

plants resulting from it. 

Maintenance requirements: pre-basic material and 

pre-basic mother plants 

8.—(1) A supplier must— 

(a) maintain pre-basic mother plants and pre-

basic material in facilities designated for the 

genera or species concerned, which are insect 

proof and ensure freedom from infection 

through aerial vectors and any other possible 

sources throughout the production process; 

(b) grow or produce pre-basic mother plants and 

pre-basic material isolated from the soil, in 

individually labelled pots of soil-free or of 

sterilised growing media; 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 45



 40

(c) ensure pre-basic mother plants and pre-basic 

material are individually identified throughout 

the production process; 

(d) keep candidate pre-basic mother plants under 

insect proof conditions, and physically 

isolated from pre-basic mother plants in the 

facilities referred to in paragraph (a), until all 

tests concerning compliance with paragraph 9 

have been concluded. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where the 

Welsh Ministers authorise the production of pre-basic 

mother plants (including candidate pre-basic mother 

plants) and pre-basic material in a field under non-

insect proof conditions, which the Welsh Ministers 

may do if satisfied— 

(a) the European Commission has authorised the 

United Kingdom to do so under Article 8(4) 

of Directive 2014/98/EU; 

(b) the plants and material are identified by labels 

that ensure traceability; and 

(c) appropriate measures are taken to prevent 

infection of the plants and material by aerial 

vectors, root contact, cross infection by 

machinery, grafting tools or any other 

possible source. 

(3) Pre-basic mother plants and pre-basic material— 

(a) may be maintained by cryopreservation; and 

(b) may only be used for a period calculated on 

the basis of the stability of the variety or the 

environmental conditions under which they 

are grown and any other determinants having 

an impact on the stability of the variety. 

Health requirements: candidate pre-basic mother 

plants and pre-basic mother plants produced by 

renewal 

9.—(1) A candidate pre-basic mother plant and a 

pre-basic mother plant produced by renewal must be 

free from the pests listed in Annex I and Annex II to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, as regards the genus or species 

concerned. 

(2) This is established— 

(a) for pests listed in Annex I to Directive 

2014/98/EU, by visual inspection and, in 

cases of doubt concerning the presence of 

those pests, by sampling and testing; 

(b) for pests listed in Annex II to Directive 

2014/98/EU, by visual inspection and 

sampling and testing. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), sampling and 

testing— 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 46



 41

(a) must be carried out by an inspector or, where 

appropriate, the supplier in accordance with 

the appropriate protocol; 

(b) in relation to viruses, viroids, virus-like 

diseases and phytoplasmas, is by means of 

biological indexing on indicator plants, or 

such other method the Welsh Ministers 

consider to be as reliable; 

(c) must take place— 

(i) in the most appropriate period of the year 

taking into account the climatic 

conditions and the growing conditions of 

the plant, and the biology of the pests 

relevant for that plant; 

(ii) in case of doubts concerning the presence 

of those pests, at any time of the year. 

(4) Where a candidate pre-basic mother plant is a 

seedling, visual inspection and sampling and testing is 

only required in respect of the viruses, viroids or virus-

like diseases listed in Annex II to Directive 

2014/98/EU, as regards the genus or species 

concerned, that are transmitted by pollen if— 

(a) an official inspection confirms the seedling 

was grown from a seed produced by a plant 

free from symptoms caused by those viruses, 

viroids and virus-like diseases; 

(b) the seedling has been maintained in 

accordance with paragraph 8. 

Health requirements: pre-basic material and pre-

basic mother plants 

10.—(1) A pre-basic mother plant or pre-basic 

material must be free from the pests listed in Part A of 

Annex I and in Annex II to Directive 2014/98/EU, as 

regards the genus or species concerned. 

(2) The percentage of pre-basic mother plants or pre-

basic material infested by the pests listed in the table in 

Part B of Annex I to Directive 2014/98/EU, must not 

exceed the tolerance levels set out in the relevant 

column of that table. 

(3) But sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) do not apply to 

pre-basic mother plants or pre-basic material during 

cryopreservation.  

(4) Compliance with sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) is 

established by visual inspection and, in cases of doubt 

concerning the presence of those pests, by sampling 

and testing. 

(5) Visual inspections and sampling and testing must 

be conducted in accordance with Annex IV to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, as regards the genus or species 

concerned and, in the case of sampling and testing, 

also in accordance with the appropriate protocol. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 47



 42

Soil requirements; pre-basic material 

11.—(1) Pre-basic mother plants and pre-basic 

material must be grown in soil that is free from any of 

the pests listed in Annex III to Directive 2014/98/EU 

relevant to the genus or species concerned and which 

host viruses affecting that genus or species. 

(2) Freedom from such pests must be established by 

sampling and testing by an inspector and, where 

appropriate, the supplier. 

(3) Sampling and testing must be carried out— 

(a) before the pre-basic mother plants or the pre-

basic material is planted, and must be 

repeated during growth where there is 

suspicion concerning the presence of the pests 

referred to in sub-paragraph (1): 

(b) taking into account the climatic conditions 

and the biology of the pests listed in Annex 

III to Directive 2014/98/EU, and where those 

pests are relevant for the pre-basic mother 

plants or the pre-basic material concerned; 

(c) in accordance with the appropriate protocol. 

(4) Sampling and testing is not required— 

(a) where plants, which are hosts for the pests 

listed in Annex III to Directive 2014/98/EU 

for the genus or species concerned, have not 

been grown in the soil of production for a 

period of at least five years and where there is 

no doubt concerning the absence of the 

relevant pests in that soil; 

(b) where an inspector concludes, on the basis of 

an official inspection, that the soil is free from 

any pests which are listed in Annex III to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, for the genus or 

species concerned, and which host viruses 

affecting that genus or species. 

Requirements concerning defects likely to impair 

quality 

12.—(1) Pre-basic mother plants and pre-basic 

material must be found to be practically free from 

defects on the basis of visual inspection. 

(2) That visual inspection must be carried out by an 

inspector and, where appropriate, the supplier. 

Requirements concerning multiplication, renewal 

and propagation of pre-basic mother plants 

13.—(1) A supplier may multiply or renew a pre-

basic mother plant accepted in accordance with 

paragraph 5. 

(2) A supplier may propagate a pre-basic mother 

plant to produce pre-basic material. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 48



 43

(3) Multiplication, renewal and propagation 

(including micropropagation) of pre-basic mother 

plants must take place in accordance with the 

appropriate protocol. 

(4) In the case of micropropagation, the appropriate 

protocol must have been tested on the relevant genus 

or species for a period of time considered sufficient to 

allow phenotype validation of the plants as regards the 

trueness to the description of the variety based on the 

observation of the fruit production or of the vegetative 

development of rootstocks. 

(5) A supplier may only renew a pre-basic mother 

plant before the end of the period referred to in 

paragraph 8(3)(b). 

PART 3 

Certification of basic material 

Propagating material (other than basic mother 

plants and rootstocks not belonging to a variety) 

14.—(1) Propagating material (other than basic 

mother plants and rootstocks not belonging to a 

variety) may be certified as basic material if that 

material meets the requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the propagating 

material— 

(a) is propagated from a basic mother plant— 

(i) grown from pre-basic material; 

(ii) produced by multiplication from a basic 

mother plant in accordance with 

paragraph 19; 

(b) is verified by an inspector as being true to the 

description of its variety in accordance with 

paragraph 7; 

(c) complies with the time period specified in 

paragraph 8(3)(b); 

(d) complies with paragraph 12 concerning 

defects; 

(e) complies with the health requirements in 

paragraph 16; 

(f) is grown in soil that is found, by sampling and 

testing, to comply with paragraph 17; 

(g) has been maintained in accordance with 

paragraph 18; and 

(h) where appropriate, has been multiplied in 

accordance with paragraph 19. 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, any reference 

to pre-basic mother plants or to pre-basic material in 

the paragraphs mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)(b) to 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 49



 44

(h) is to be construed as reference to basic mother 

plants or basic material, as the case may be. 

(4) Where the mother plant or material no longer 

fulfils the requirements referred to in sub-paragraph 

(2), the supplier— 

(a) must remove the mother plant or material 

from the vicinity of other basic mother plants 

and basic material;  

(b) may take appropriate measures in order to 

ensure that the mother plant or the material 

complies with those requirements again. 

(5) A supplier may use any mother plant or material 

removed in accordance with sub-paragraph (4)(a) as 

certified or CAC material provided the mother plant or 

material fulfils the requirements set out in these 

Regulations for the respective categories. 

Rootstock not belonging to a variety 

15.—(1) A rootstock not belonging to a variety may 

be certified as basic material if it meets the 

requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the rootstock— 

(a) is true to the description of its species; 

(b) is individually identified throughout the 

production process; 

(c) complies with the time period specified in 

paragraph 8(3)(b); 

(d) complies with paragraph 12 concerning 

defects; 

(e) complies with the health requirements in 

paragraph 16; 

(f) is grown in soil that is found, by sampling and 

testing, to comply with paragraph 17; 

(g) has been maintained in accordance with 

paragraph 18; and 

(h) where appropriate, has been multiplied in 

accordance with paragraph 19. 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, any reference 

to pre-basic mother plants or pre-basic material in the 

paragraphs mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) is to be 

construed as reference to basic mother plants or basic 

material, as the case may be. 

(4) Where a rootstock not belonging to a variety is a 

basic mother plant or basic material that no longer 

fulfils the requirements of sub-paragraph (2) the 

supplier— 

(a) must remove the rootstock from the vicinity 

of other basic mother plants and basic 

material;  

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 50



 45

(b) may take appropriate measures in order to 

ensure the rootstock complies with those 

requirements again. 

(5) A supplier may use any rootstock removed in 

accordance with sub-paragraph (4)(a) as certified or 

CAC material provided the rootstock fulfils the 

requirements set out in these Regulations for the 

respective categories. 

Health requirements: basic mother plant or basic 

material 

16.—(1) A basic mother plant or basic material must 

be free from the pests listed in Part A of Annex I and 

in Annex II to Directive 2014/98/EU, as regards the 

genus or species concerned. 

(2) The percentage of basic mother plants or basic 

material infested by the pests listed in the table in Part 

B of Annex I to Directive 2014/98/EU, must not 

exceed the tolerance levels set out in the relevant 

column of that table. 

(3) But sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) do not apply to 

basic mother plants or basic material during 

cryopreservation.  

(4) Compliance with sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) is 

established by visual inspection of the facilities, fields 

and, where appropriate, lots and, in case of doubts 

concerning the presence of those pests, by sampling 

and testing by an inspector and, where appropriate, the 

supplier. 

(5) Visual inspections and sampling and testing must 

be conducted in accordance with Annex IV to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, as regards the genus or species 

concerned and, in the case of sampling and testing, 

also in accordance with the appropriate protocol. 

Soil requirements; basic material 

17.—(1) Basic mother plants and basic material may 

only be grown in soil that is free from any pests which 

are listed in Annex III of Directive 2014/98/EU 

relevant to the genus or species concerned and which 

host viruses affecting that genus or species. 

(2) Freedom from such pests must be established by 

sampling and testing by an inspector and, where 

appropriate, a supplier. 

(3) Sampling and testing must be carried out— 

(a) before the basic mother plants or the basic 

material is planted, and must be repeated 

during growth where there is suspicion 

concerning the presence of the pests referred 

to in sub-paragraph (1): 

(b) taking into account the climatic conditions 

and the biology of the pests listed in Annex 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 51



 46

III to Directive 2014/98/EU, and where those 

pests are relevant for the basic mother plants 

or the basic material concerned; 

(c) in accordance with the appropriate protocol. 

(4) Sampling and testing need not be carried out— 

(a) where plants, which are hosts for the pests 

listed in Annex III to Directive 2014/98/EU 

for the genus or species concerned, have not 

been grown in the soil of production for a 

period of at least five years and where there is 

no doubt concerning the absence of the 

relevant pests in that soil; 

(b) where an inspector concludes on the basis of 

an official inspection that the soil is free from 

any pests which are listed in Annex III to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, for the genus or 

species concerned, and which host viruses 

affecting that genus or species. 

Maintenance requirements: basic mother plants 

and basic material 

18. Basic mother plants and basic material must be 

maintained in fields isolated by distance from potential 

sources of infection including aerial vectors, root 

contact, cross infection by machinery, grafting tools 

and any other possible sources. 

Conditions for multiplication: basic mother plants 

19.—(1) Basic mother plants grown from pre-basic 

material may be multiplied in a number of generations 

to obtain the necessary number of basic mother plants 

in accordance with this paragraph. 

(2) Any multiplication of a basic mother plant under 

sub-paragraph (1) must be done in accordance with 

paragraph 13 and, for the purposes of this sub-

paragraph, a reference to a pre-basic mother plant in 

paragraph 13  is to be construed as reference to a basic 

mother plant. 

(3) The maximum permitted number of generations, 

and the maximum permitted life span of a basic mother 

plant must not exceed the limits set out in Annex V to 

Directive 2014/98/EU for the relevant genera or 

species. 

(4) Where multiple generations of basic mother 

plants are permitted, each generation, other than the 

first one, may derive from any previous generation. 

(5) Propagating material of different generations 

must be kept separate. 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 52



 47

PART 4 

Certification of certified material 

Propagating material (other than mother plants) 

and fruit plants 

20.—(1) Propagating material (other than mother 

plants) and fruit plants may be certified as certified 

material if the propagating material or fruit plant meets 

the requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the propagating 

material or fruit plant— 

(a) is grown from a certified mother plant grown 

from pre-basic or basic material; 

(b) is verified by an inspector as being true to the 

description of its variety in accordance with 

paragraph 7; 

(c) complies with the time period specified in 

paragraph 8(3)(b); 

(d) complies with paragraph 12 concerning 

defects; 

(e) complies with the health requirements in 

paragraph 22; and 

(f) is grown in soil that is found, by sampling and 

testing, to comply with paragraph 23. 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, any reference 

to pre-basic mother plants or pre-basic material in the 

paragraphs mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) is to be 

construed as reference to certified mother plants or 

certified material, as the case may be. 

(4) Where a certified mother plant or certified 

material no longer fulfils the requirements referred to 

in sub-paragraph (2)(b) to (f), the supplier— 

(a) must remove the mother plant or material 

from the vicinity of other certified mother 

plants and certified material;  

(b) may take appropriate measures in order to 

ensure that the mother plant or the material 

complies with those requirements again. 

(5) A supplier may use any mother plant or material 

removed in accordance with sub-paragraph (4)(a) as 

CAC material provided the mother plant or material 

fulfils the requirements set out in Schedule 1 for CAC 

material. 

Rootstock not belonging to a variety 

21.—(1) A rootstock not belonging to a variety may 

be certified as certified material if it meets the 

requirements in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The requirements are that the rootstock— 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 53



 48

(a) is grown from a certified mother plant grown 

from pre-basic or basic material; 

(b) complies with the time period specified in 

paragraph 8(3)(b); 

(c) complies with paragraph 12 concerning 

defects; 

(d) complies with the health requirements in 

paragraph 22; and 

(e) is grown in soil that is found, by sampling and 

testing, to comply with paragraph 23. 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, any reference 

to pre-basic mother plants or pre-basic material in the 

paragraphs mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) is to be 

construed as reference to certified mother plants or 

certified material, as the case may be. 

(4) Where a rootstock not belonging to a variety is a 

certified mother plant or certified material that no 

longer fulfils the requirements referred to in sub-

paragraph (2), the supplier— 

(a) must remove the rootstock from the vicinity 

of other certified mother plants and certified 

material;  

(b) may take appropriate measures in order to 

ensure the rootstock complies with those 

requirements again. 

(5) A supplier may use any rootstock removed in 

accordance with sub-paragraph (4)(a) as CAC material 

provided the rootstock fulfils the requirements set out 

in Schedule 1 for CAC material. 

Health requirements: certified mother plants and 

material 

22.—(1) A certified mother plant or certified 

material must be free from the pests listed in Part A of 

Annex I and in Annex II to Directive 2014/98/EU, as 

regards the genus or species concerned. 

(2) The percentage of certified mother plants or 

certified material infested by the pests listed in the 

table in Part B of Annex I to Directive 2014/98/EU, 

must not exceed the tolerance levels set out in the 

relevant column of that table. 

(3) But sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) do not apply to 

certified mother plants or certified material during 

cryopreservation.  

(4) An inspector and, where appropriate, a supplier, 

establishes compliance with sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) 

by visual inspection of the facilities, fields and, where 

appropriate, lots and, in case of doubts concerning the 

presence of those pests, by sampling and testing. 

(5) Visual inspections and sampling and testing must 

be conducted in accordance with Annex IV to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, as regards the genus or species 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 54



 49

concerned and, in the case of sampling and testing, 

also in accordance with the appropriate protocol. 

Soil requirements; certified mother plants and 

material 

23.—(1) Certified mother plants and certified 

material must be grown in soil that is free from any of 

the pests listed in Annex III of Directive 2014/98/EU 

relevant to the genus or species concerned and which 

host viruses affecting that genus or species. 

(2) Freedom from such pests must be established by 

sampling and testing by an inspector and, where 

appropriate, a supplier. 

(3) Sampling and testing must be carried out— 

(a) before the certified mother plant or the 

certified material is planted, and must be 

repeated during growth if the presence of such 

pests is suspected; 

(b) taking account of climatic conditions, the 

biology of the pests, and the relevance of the 

pests for the certified mother plant or the 

certified material concerned; 

(c) in accordance with the appropriate protocol. 

(4) Sampling and testing is not required— 

(a) in the case of certified fruit plants; 

(b) where plants, which are hosts for the pests 

listed in Annex III to Directive 2014/98/EU 

for the genus or species concerned, have not 

been grown in the soil of production for a 

period of at least five years and where there is 

no doubt concerning the absence of the 

relevant pests in that soil; 

(c) where an inspector concludes, on the basis of 

an official inspection, that the soil is free from 

any pests which are listed in Annex III to 

Directive 2014/98/EU, for the genus or 

species concerned, and which host viruses 

affecting that genus or species. 

 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 55



 

 

Certified copy from legislation.gov.uk Publishing

Pack Page 56



 

Explanatory Memorandum to the Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating 

Material (Wales) Regulations 2017 

 This Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared by the Plant Health and 

Environment Protection Branch within the Economy, Skills and Natural Resources 

Department and is laid before the National Assembly for Wales in conjunction with 

the above subordinate legislation and in accordance with Standing Order 27.1  

Minister’s Declaration 

In my view, this Explanatory Memorandum gives a fair and reasonable view of the 

expected impact of the Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating Material (Wales) 

Regulations 2017.  

 

Lesley Griffiths 

Cabinet Secretary for Environment and Rural Affairs 

14 June 2017 

 

Pack Page 58



1. Description 

These Regulations revoke and replace the Marketing of Fruit Plant Material 

Regulations 2010. Their purpose is to implement new EU Directives introducing 

standards for the identity and quality of fruit propagating material. The following EU 

Directives are being transposed: 

 Directive 2014/96 on requirements for labelling, sealing and packaging of fruit 

plant and propagating material. 

 Directive 2014/97 on the registration of suppliers and of varieties and the 

common list of varieties; and 

  Directive 2014/98 on specific requirements for production and marketing of 

fruit plant and propagating material. 

The Regulations continue to implement Council Directive 2008/90/EC. 

 

2. Matters of special interest to the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 

Committee 

Paragraph 3 explains that these Regulations are made in reliance on section 2(2) of 

the European Communities Act 1972 (“the ECA 1972”).   

When exercising the power under section 2(2) of the ECA, the Welsh Ministers are 

to determine whether that instrument is subject to the negative or affirmative 

procedure (section 59(3) of the Government of Wales Act 2006).  

As these regulations implement new European legislation where there is limited 

discretion, the Welsh Ministers have determined that this instrument is subject to the 

negative resolution procedure.   

The transposition date for the 2014 Directives was 1st January 2017. This deadline 

was missed due to a number of delays, including a delay in issuing the consultation. 

The European Commission issued a letter of formal notice in late January, and the 

response committed to a revised transposition date of 19th June 2017. Any delay 

beyond this revised deadline is likely to result in the Commission issuing a reasoned 

opinion.  

A delay beyond 19th June will also affect trade as without this instrument, the 

industry is not able to produce and market certified fruit material and will not be able 

to export that material to the rest of Europe.  

In order to comply with the commitment given to the Commission to have the 

Regulations in force by 19 June 2017, and to ensure the industry is able to market 

fruit material as soon as possible, it is necessary that this instrument breaches the 

21 day rule.  

Pack Page 59



England introduced equivalent regulations which came into force on 1 June 2017 by 

breaching the 21 day rule. The Llywydd has been notified of the breach by letter. 

3. Legislative background 

Section 59(2) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 enables the Welsh Ministers to 

exercise the power under section 2(2) in relation to any matter, or for any purpose, 

for which they have been designated. 

The Welsh Ministers are designated for the purposes of section 2(2) of the ECA 

1972 in relation to the common agricultural policy of the European Union by virtue of 

Article 3 of the European Communities (Designation) (No. 5) Order (S.I. 

2010/2690).These Regulations are made by the Welsh Ministers in exercise of their 

powers under section 2(2) of, and paragraph 1A of Schedule 2 to the ECA 1972.  

The Regulations are subject to the negative procedure.  

 

4. Purpose & intended effect of the legislation 

The marketing of fruit plant and propagating material of the main fruit species has 

been regulated by EU Directives since 1992. The underlying Directive was revised in 

2008 (Council Directive 2008/90/EC) and corresponding UK Regulations were 

introduced in 2010. 

Three new EU Directives 2014/96/EU, 2014/97/EU, 2014/98/EU agreed in 2014 give 

detailed requirements for the production and sale of fruit propagating material to 

assure identity and quality of material sold to consumers and to facilitate the single 

market by harmonising standards.  They formalise the previous voluntary scheme 

which was administered by APHA and the Nuclear Stocks Association. The following 

EU Directives are being transposed: 

 Directive 2014/96 on requirements for labelling, sealing and packaging of fruit 

plant and propagating material. 

 Directive 2014/97 on the registration of suppliers and of varieties and the 

common list of varieties; and 

  Directive 2014/98 on specific requirements for production and marketing of 

fruit plant and propagating material. 

The main species relevant to the UK are strawberry, raspberry, blackberry and 

blueberry. 

  

Pack Page 60



5. Consultation 

Defra conducted an England and Wales six week targeted consultation with the 

Nuclear Stock Association (the main industry representative organisation) and 

approximately 400 commercial producers and suppliers. Three responses were 

received; the Nuclear Stock Association responded on behalf of its members and 

was fully supportive of our proposals. Of the remaining two responses, one 

supported our proposals and the other expressed a preference for retaining the 

current voluntary certification scheme. 

The consultation started on 30 September and ended on 25 November. The 

summary of responses was published on 1 February 2017. Details of the 

consultation, including a summary of responses, can be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/updating-the-marketing-of-fruit-plant-

and-propagating-material-regulations 

 

6. Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) 

A Regulatory Impact Assessment has not been prepared for these Regulations.  

A Regulatory Triage Assessment (RTA) was prepared by Defra on a Wales and 

England basis.  There will be additional costs of labelling, and reduced costs for 

inspection with a small overall benefit.  

No significant impact on the private, voluntary or public sector is foreseen. 

 

Pack Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/updating-the-marketing-of-fruit-plant-and-propagating-material-regulations
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/updating-the-marketing-of-fruit-plant-and-propagating-material-regulations


 

SL(5)112 – The Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating 

Material (Wales) Regulations 2017 

Background and Purpose 

These Regulations continue to implement Council Directive 2008/90/EC on the marketing of fruit plant 

propagating material and fruit plants intended for fruit production.  

They also implement: 

- Commission Implementing Directive 2014/96/EU on the requirements for the labelling, sealing 

and packaging of fruit plant propagating material and fruit plants intended for fruit production, 

falling within the scope of Council Directive 2008/90/EC; 

- Commission Implementing Directive 2014/97/EU implementing Council Directive 2008/90/EC as 

regards the registration of suppliers and of varieties and the common list of varieties; 

- Commission Implementing Directive 2014/98/EU implementing Council Directive 2008/90/EC as 

regards specific requirements for the genus and species of fruit plants referred to in Annex I 

thereto, specific requirements to be met by suppliers and detailed rules concerning official 

inspections. 

They revoke and replace the Marketing of Fruit Plant Material Regulations 2010.  

Procedure 

Negative 

Technical Scrutiny 

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of this instrument. 

Merits Scrutiny  

Two points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of this instrument. 

Late transposition of EU law and breach of the 21 day rule 

The transposition date for the various EU Implementing Directives was 1 January 2017. The Committee 

notes the Welsh Government’s helpful explanation for the late transposition and the commitment made 

to the European Commission to bring the Regulations into force by the extended deadline of 19 June 

2017. 

Given the Welsh Government’s reliance on the UK Government in preparing these Regulations, it appears 

to the Committee that the Welsh Government was always likely to breach either the 21 day rule or the 

extended deadline of 19 June 2017. In this case, the Welsh Government chose to breach the 21 day rule 

rather than the extended deadline; these Regulations come into force only 3 days after being laid before 

the Assembly. 

The 21 day rule is designed to ensure that people are given time to arrange their affairs in preparation 

for new law coming into force. The Committee would be grateful if the Welsh Government could confirm: 

Pack Page 62

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=19317
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/2079/contents


 

(a) what pro-active steps it took to advise all appropriate stakeholders that these Regulations would 

come into force on 19 June 2017, and (b) when were those pro-active steps taken. 

The Committee therefore reports this instrument under: 

- Standing Order 21.3(ii), in that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to issues of public 

policy likely to be of interest to the Assembly; 

- Standing Order 21.3(iv), in that it inappropriately implements European Union legislation. 

Implications arising from exiting the European Union  

The Welsh Ministers made these Regulations using powers given to them under the European 

Communities Act 1972. At present, it is unclear how executive powers in the field of plant health and 

seeds will be exercisable when the UK exits the European Union. Linked to this, it is unclear how the 

Assembly’s competence in the field of plant health and seeds will be affected. For example, it is unclear 

whether / how powers to regulate plant health and seeds will be subject to common UK framework rules. 

Also, this may be one example of EU law requiring correction before it can be workable in a UK-only 

context. For example, EU Directive 2014/96 requires certain labels to include the words “EU rules and 

standards”. It is unclear whether a reference to “EU law and standards” would be workable outside of the 

EU; this will depend on the relationship the UK has with the EU after exit. 

Government Response 

I accept the points raised by the Committee and acknowledge the deadline for transposing the EU 

Directives was missed and the 21 day rule was breached, for the reasons set out in the Explanatory 

Memorandum.  

 

The 2017 Regulations formalise the previous voluntary scheme administered by the Animal and Plant 

Health Agency (APHA) and the main industry representative organisation, the Nuclear Stocks Association 

(NSA). One company in Wales is directly affected by this legislation who are a member of the NSA and, at 

a meeting in December 2016, the NSA were updated on progress in implementing the EU 

Regulations.  At the meeting all parties were aware the Regulations would miss the transposition date of 

1 January 2017 and it was unlikely the Regulations would come in to force until May 2017 at the earliest.  

In January 2017, guidance for commercial growers regarding the new scheme was published. Inspections 

for the certification scheme are conducted annually from June and the industry will have been preparing 

for these in line with the new requirements. 

 

 

Legal Advisers 

Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 

22 June 2017 

Pack Page 63

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/68/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/68/contents


Jane Hutt AC/AM 
Arweinydd y Tŷ a’r Prif Chwip 
Leader of the House and Chief Whip 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 
Gohebiaeth.Jane.Hutt@llyw.cymru 

                Correspondence.Jane.Hutt@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-L/LG/5337/16 
 
 
Elin Jones AM 
Llywydd 
National Assembly for Wales 
 
 

16 June 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Llywydd, 
 
 
The Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating Material (Wales) Regulations 2017 
 
 
In accordance with guidance I am notifying you that section 11A(4) of the Statutory 
Instruments Act 1946, as inserted by Sch.10 para 3 of the Government of Wales Act 2006, 
which affords the rule that statutory instruments come into force at least 21 days from the 
date of laying, will be breached for the introduction of the above amending Regulations. The 
Explanatory Memorandum is attached for your information. 
 
The Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating Material (Wales) Regulations 2017 implement 
three EU Directives which introduce harmonised EU certification schemes with high 
standards for fruit propagating material, while also permitting producers to market 
uncertified material meeting minimum standards. The three Directives in question are: 
 

 Directive 2014/69/EC on requirements for labelling, sealing and packaging of fruit 
plant and propagating material; 
 

 Directive 2014/97/EC on the registration of suppliers and of varieties and the 
common list of varieties; and 

 

 Directive 2014/98/EC on specific requirements for production and marketing of fruit 
plant and propagating material. 

 
The Directives introduce specific requirements for establishing the identity and quality of 
propagating material and for labelling and packaging, to provide assurance for buyers of the 
material. The most important species relevant to the UK are strawberry, raspberry, 

Pack Page 64

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jane.Hutt@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Jane.Hutt@gov.wales


 

 

blackberry and blueberry; although apples, pear and plums etc. are also included. The 
Regulations revoke and replace the Marketing of Fruit Plant Material Regulations 2010. 
 
The transposition date for these Directives was 1 January 2017. This date was missed due 
to a number of delays, including a delay in releasing the consultation, which included the 
National Assembly for Wales’ elections and the EU referendum. 
 
These Regulations are enforced by the Plant Health and Seed Inspectorate (PHSI), part of 
Defra’s Animal and Plant Health Agency, on a Wales and England basis.  To ensure parity 
of enforcement procedures for industry in Wales and England, Welsh Government officials 
have had to follow Defra’s lead and timetable in preparing this Instrument.  
 
The European Commission issued a letter of formal notice (a Jumbo letter) in late January 
for failure to transpose these Directives. Our response committed to a revised transposition 
date of 19 June. Any delay beyond 19 June is highly likely to result in the Commission 
issuing a reasoned opinion. 
 
Similar legislation came into force in England on 1st June 2017 and Defra breached the 21 
day rule in order to comply with their commitment to the European Commission to have 
Regulations in force by 1 June 2017. 
 
I regret to inform you that in order to bring these Regulations into force in time to meet the 
delayed deadline of 19 June 2017 for transposing the Directives listed above, and to ensure 
industry are able to market fruit material as soon as possible, we are unable to allow  21 
days before this instrument comes into force. 
 
An eight week, targeted consultation with the main interested parties was undertaken in 
England and Wales.  Welsh Fruit Stocks is the only company in Wales which produces 
certified fruit plant material and they are a member of the Nuclear Stock Association (NSA) 
who, together with the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA), manages the existing 
voluntary scheme. NSA held meetings to advise all of its members of the proposed 
changes. 
 
The eight week consultation started on 30 September 2016 and ended on 25 November 
2016: 
 
• Two responses were favourable and supported the objectives of the Directive and 
the approach to implementation by adapting the current voluntary scheme. One of the 
responses from Dr Walpole, NSA Chair, wrote to Defra to confirm its members had 
unanimously agreed the content of the proposals. 
 
• One respondent indicated a preference to retain a voluntary domestic scheme and 
not implement the EU Directives but did not set out his views in any more detail.   
 
To ensure continued enforceability with the rest of the UK it has become necessary to 
breach the 21 day rule. 
 
A Regulatory Impact Assessment has not been prepared for these Regulations. A 
Regulatory Triage Assessment has been prepared by Defra on an England and Wales 
basis. There will be additional costs for labelling and reduced costs for inspection with a 
small overall benefit. However, an Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared and this 
has been laid, together with the Regulations, in Table Office. 
 

Pack Page 65



 

 

A copy of this letter goes to Huw Irranca-Davies AM, Chair of the Constitutional and 
Legislative Affairs Committee and Chris Warner, Head of Policy and Legislation Committee 
Service. 
 

 
 
 
Jane Hutt AC/AM 
Arweinydd y Tŷ a’r Prif Chwip 
Leader of the House and Chief Whip 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 66



Pack Page 67

Agenda Item 5.1



 

 

Jane Hutt AM 

Leader of the House 

National Assembly for Wales 

Cardiff Bay 

CF99 1NA 

21 June 2017 

 

Dear Jane 

Subordinate legislation deriving from EU law 

I am writing to advise you of a slight change to the way in which we report on some 

subordinate legislation as a result of the UK’s impending exit from the European Union 

(EU). I should emphasise that we do not see this change as requiring any additional work 

for the Welsh Government.  

The Committee agreed at its meeting on 12 June to report on subordinate legislation that 

derives from EU law (using Standing order 21.3(ii), for statutory instruments and Standing 

Order 21.7(v), for other relevant subordinate legislation).  

The purpose of this approach would be to promote awareness of subordinate legislation 

that derives from EU law and, in particular, inform the Assembly about how EU law works 

on a day-to-day basis. This in turn may help increase understanding of the impacts of 

exiting the EU in certain policy areas, help Committees in their scrutiny functions and also 

provide some insight relevant to UK Government negotiations on exiting the EU.  

We do not consider that the Welsh Government will routinely need to provide a response 

on reporting points that relate to this new additional EU-related information, as they are 

not likely to be matters of concern to be addressed. In the unlikely event that a 

Government response would be required, this will be clearly stated in the report.  

 

Pack Page 68



 

The Clerking and legal team that support the Committee will continue to keep in regular 

contact with counterparts in the Welsh Government’s Legislative Programme and 

Governance Unit and legal teams to ensure this change operates smoothly.  

Yours sincerely 

 

Huw Irranca-Davies  

Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 69



Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru                

  Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 

fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 

corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref KW/00954/17 
 
Mr Huw Irranca-Davies, AM 
Chair 
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee 

National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 
 

29 June 2017 
 
Dear Huw  
 
The Education (Postgraduate Master’s Degree Loans) Regulations 2017 

 
Thank you for your letter dated 15 June 2017 and your Committee’s consideration of 
the above Regulations. I acknowledge and agree with the points you make regarding 
the drafting of explanatory memoranda, and will ensure future material is drafted with 
these principles in mind.  
 
I am grateful for your attention in this matter.   
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
 
 
Kirsty Williams AC/AM 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
 

Pack Page 70

Agenda Item 5.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales


 

 

15 June 2017 

 

Dear Kirsty 

The Education (Postgraduate Master’s Degree Loans) (Wales) Regulations 2017 

You will be aware we considered these Regulations at our meeting on 15 May and 

subsequently reported to the Assembly with two technical points under Standing Order 

21.2. 

We are grateful for the government response on these reporting points, which we 

considered at our meeting on 22 May. 

We were satisfied with the explanation in relation to the first reporting point concerning 

human rights and equality,  

However, as regards the second point in relation to eligible prisoners, we agreed that the 

Regulations, the Explanatory Note and the Explanatory Memorandum should be clearer on 

the main policies set out in the Regulations. In particular, a person must be able to read 

the explanatory material on its own and get a proper understanding of the main policies 

without having to refer to the Regulations themselves. 

We accept that a person must turn to the Regulations for a full and detailed account of the 

law, but in this case there was genuine confusion around a significant policy area, namely 

the maximum loan amount an eligible prisoner can receive. It is only by reading the 

Regulations that it is possible to ascertain the caveat that applies to eligible prisoner loans. 

I would be grateful therefore if you could ensure that explanatory material to subordinate 

legislation: is drafted consistently with the subordinate legislation; gives an accurate 

Kirsty Williams AM 

Cabinet Secretary for Education 

 

Pack Page 71



 

summary of significant policy areas when read on its own; and  keeps the lay person in 

mind.  

I am copying this letter to the Jane Hutt AM, Leader of the House given the wider 

implications for the drafting of explanatory material.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Huw Irranca-Davies  

Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 72


	Agenda
	2 Stronger Voice for Wales: Evidence session 11
	4 SL(5)112 - The Marketing of Fruit Plant and Propagating Material (Wales) Regulations 2017
	CLA(5)-18-17 - Paper 2
	CLA(5)-18-17 - Paper 3
	CLA(5)-18-17 - Paper 4

	5.1 Correspondence regarding Subordinate legislation deriving from EU law
	CLA(5)-18-17 - Paper 6

	5.2 Correspondence regarding The Education (Postgraduate Master's Degree Loans) Regulations 2017
	CLA(5)-18-17 - Paper 8


